No. 22-125,304-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

In the Matter of W.L. and G.L.,

By and Through Next Friend M.S. and M.S., Individually,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

and

E.L.

Respondent-Appellee,

 ${}^{
m V.}_{
m C.L.,} \ Appellant.$

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT C.L.

Appeal from the District Court of Crawford County, Kansas
Pittsburg Division
Honorable Gunnar A. Sundby, District Judge
District Court Consolidated Case Nos. 2017-DM-000476-P and
2019-DM-000476-P

Allison G. Kort, #27072 Kort Law Firm LLC P.O. Box 410544 Kansas City, Missouri 64141

Tel: 816-226-8348 Fax: 816-471-7340

Email: allison.kort@kortlawfirm.com

Attorney for Appellant C.L.

Oral Argument: 15 minutes

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant C.L. ("Wife") ¹ appeals the district court's March 26, 2022 Journal Entry dismissing her Petition for Determination of Paternity of W.L. and G.L., the seven-year-old twin boys whose welfare is the subject of these ongoing proceedings. (R.1, 88-90) This is the second appeal arising from the underlying same-sex parentage case—but the first appeal brought by Wife, who was not named as a party in the 2018 appeal brought by Appellee M.S. ("Partner"). *See Matter of W.L.*, 56 Kan. App. 2d 958, 959–60 (2019), *rev'd*, 312 Kan. 367 (2020).

Here, Wife challenges the propriety of the Crawford County District Court's dismissal of her parentage petition, following remand by the Kansas

¹ For clarity and ease of reference, this Brief refers to the parties in this appeal as follows.

^{1. &}quot;Wife" means C.L. (Appellant in this case), also designated as Intervenor in Crawford County District Court Case No. 2017-DM-000476-P (parentage), and Respondent in Crawford County District Court Case No. 2019-DM-000476-P (divorce).

^{2. &}quot;Biological Mother" means E.L. (Appellee in this case), also designated as Appellee in the first appeal, Respondent in Crawford County District Court Case No. 2017-DM-000476-P (parentage); and Petitioner in Crawford County District Court Case No. 2019-DM-000476-P (divorce).

^{3. &}quot;Partner" means M.S. (Appellee in this case), also designated as Appellant in the first appeal, and Petitioner in Crawford County District Court Case No. 2017-DM-000476-P (parentage).

Supreme Court on November 6, 2020.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Issue I: The District Court Erred In Dismissing Wife's Petition For Determination of Parentage Under K.S.A. 60-212(b)(6),
 Because The Allegations In The Petition Were Sufficient To State A Claim of Maternity Under the Kansas Parentage Act.
- Issue II: The District Court Erred In Dismissing Wife's Petition for Determination of Parentage, Because It Misinterpreted The Plain Language And Purpose Of The Kansas Parentage Act In Concluding That Wife Could Not Establish A Legal Fiction Of Biological Parentage, Because No Competing Presumption of Maternity Existed At The Time of Birth.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Introduction.

The events leading up to Wife's instant appeal began after the Kansas Supreme Court decided two same-sex parentage cases on November 6, 2020: (1) Matter of W.L., 312 Kan. 367 (2020), No. 119,536 ("W.L. I"); and (2) Matter of M.F. by and through K.L., 312 Kan 322 (2020), No. 117,301. This Court is familiar with the procedural history of this case prior to issuance of the Mandate on December 8, 2020, in which the Supreme Court reversed and remanded the trial court's May 22, 2018 judgment, denying E.L. ("Biological Mother")'s former partner M.S.'s Petition for Determination of Parentage of W.L. and G.L. (R.1, 10). In the interest of brevity, this Brief of Appellant C.L.

avoids unnecessarily recounting facts previously presented to this Court.

Wife raises two points of error for this Court's determination: (1) whether the district court erred in dismissing Wife's Petition for Determination of Paternity for failure to state a claim on which relief may be granted under K.S.A. 60-212(b)(6); and (2) whether the district court erred in denying Wife's petition for legal parentage because Wife could not show "notorious recognition of maternity at the time the children were born." (R.9, 80-83). The material facts and relevant procedural history necessary to this Court's determination of the issues on appeal are as follows.

B. January 2017-May 2019: Wife and Mother Marry and Coparent W.L. and G.L.

Wife and Mother started dating in January 2017, just after the children's second birthday and approximately fifteen months after the relationship ended between Mother and Partner.(R.15, 11); W.L. I, 312 Kan. at 369. Wife first met the children "in passing" on the couple's second date; about a month later, Wife, Mother, and the children began spending significant time together.(R.16, 4)

In July 2017, Wife and Mother moved in together and became engaged. (R.15, 213-14) The children were three years old when Wife and Mother were married on January 13, 2018. (R.15, 206) That summer, Wife quit her job and became a "full-time, stay-at-home mother" to W.L. and G.L. and Mother

worked full time. (R.9, 50-52) On August 7, 2018, Wife's petitions to adopt the children were filed in Crawford County District Court. (R.9, 55-58)

The marriage between Wife and Mother began to deteriorate in Spring 2019. (R.1, 81) Despite challenges in their relationship, the women worked well together as coparents:

[I]n August of 2019, the boys started preschool. [E.L.] listed herself and [C.L.] as the boys' parents with the school. The boys and everyone who knew the boys knew that [C.L.] was the boys' mother.[C.L.] picked the boys up from preschool and cared for them after school every day. [E.L.] and the boys called [C.L.] "Mama Chacha."

(R.9, 50)

C. October 2019-December 2020: Separation and Coparenting.

When the parties separated in October 2019, Mother stayed in the parties' martial home and Wife moved 20 minutes away; Mother refused to permit Wife to exercise parenting time or keep the boys overnight at her new residence in Wichita. (R.10, 9-29) On October 24, Mother filed her Petition for Divorce in Crawford County District Court, Case No. 2019-DM-000476. (R.10, 1-2) On December 4, Wife filed her Answer and Counter-Petition. (R.10, 8-11) Paragraph 3 of the Counter-Petition alleged: "[t]here are two (2) children of this marriage, to wit: [W.L. and G.L.]." (R.10, 6) Paragraph 8 stated: "[C.L.] is a parent to the two (2) minor children. The acknowledgment, establishment, and recognition of her parentage is in the best interests of the children as

supported by K.S.A. 23-2201 et. seq., the findings in *Frazier v. Goudschaal*, 296 Kan. 730 (2013), and other cases." (R.10, 9)

On December 23, 2019, Mother filed her Answer to Wife's Counter-Petition. (R 10, 14) Mother did not respond directly to Wife's allegations in Paragraph 3, that W.L. and G.L. "are two (2) children of this marriage." (R.10, 8) Instead, Mother responded generally: "[t]he Allegations contained in paragraphs one through seven are admitted." (R.10, 14) Mother denied the allegations in Paragraph 8 of Wife's Counter-Petition, but admitted "that [Wife] has a stepparent relationship to the two minor children and therefore may be entitled to some parenting time." (R.10, 14)

The divorce case remained "on hold" for the next 14 months until the end of April 2021—after the Supreme Court reversed the 5/22/2018

Judgment Decision and Order Denying Parentage (R.1, 11-39); and after the district court issued its Order following remand, declaring Appellee M.S. the legal parent of the W.L. and G.L. (R.1, 41-52) Although the parties were not engaged in litigation during the interim period, on September 30 and October 2, 2020, Mother and Wife respectively signed and had notarized a Co-Parenting Agreement detailing the specific agreed-upon terms for joint legal custody and joint physical custody of the children. (R.10, 31-34)

The introductory paragraph of the Co-Parenting Agreement stated the

parties' intent to share legal and physical custody of the children, as follows:

[E.L.] (biological mother) and [C.L.] (mother), desire individually and cooperatively to bring forth and love two children, [W.G.L.] (12/20/2014) and [G.T.L.] (12/20/2014), within the context of a loving and diverse community and according to the values they hold in relation to spiritual, cultural, and political matters, hereby enter into the following agreement. It is the biological mother and mother's intention to share in the physical, emotional, and financial support of the child. The process that led to this agreement has been a considered and conscious one.

(R.10, 31) Regarding residential custody, the Co-Parenting Agreement provided:

We intend for the child[ren] to have a strong emotional bond with both parents. The child[ren] shall reside with the biological mother and mother as stated below, with the goal of fostering a strong relationship with both parents. The biological mother and mother both acknowledge that each has a strong commitment to the child[ren] being reared [] with the help of other adults, and furthermore, both parents intend to foster and support these extended community relationships with the child[ren].

(R.10, 31). For the regular parenting time schedule, the children would reside with Wife every other weekend from Saturday at 9:00 a.m. until Sunday evening, and every Wednesday evening beginning after the release of school or at 4:00 p.m. (R.10, 31 The parties would share holidays equally, on an alternating-year holiday schedule. (R.10, 31). Concerning joint legal custody, Wife and Mother agreed to "make decisions regarding health care, childcare, and education by consensus." (R.10, 32) In addition to signing the Co-Parenting Agreement on September 30, 2020, Mother provided Wife with a

signed and notarized medical power of attorney for both children, a durable power of attorney for Mother regarding healthcare decisions, and a copy of Mother's Last Will and Testament. (R.15, 227)

D. November 2020-November 2021: Supreme Court Decision and Remand Proceedings in Parentage Case; Consolidation of Divorce and Paternity Actions.

On November 6, 2020, the Supreme Court of Kansas released its Opinions in W.L. I, 312 Kan. 367; and its companion case, Matter of K.L., 312 Kan. 322. The Court articulated a new standard under the Kansas Parentage Act, announcing that the former same-sex romantic partner of a woman who becomes pregnant via artificial insemination and gives birth during the relationship, may establish a presumption of maternity by "notoriously or in writing recogniz[ing] paternity of the child. . . ." K.S.A. 23-2208(a)(4).

The Supreme Court reversed the district court's 5/22/2018 Order denying Appellee M.S.'s parentage petition, because the Order erroneously focused on other factors and circumstances irrelevant to the issue of parentage; rather than solely considering whether Mother's former romantic partner M.S. sufficiently proved "she ha[d] notoriously recognized maternity and the rights and duties attendant to it at the time of the child's birth," and that Mother had consented to "share her due process right to decision-making" about the children's care, custody and control with M.S. See W.L. I,

312 Kan. at 382. As stated in the Opinion, "the district judge will be free to allow submission of additional evidence by the parties if he deems such evidence necessary to conduct the legal analysis we have outlined. This evidence may extend to proof of the existence or nonexistence of competing presumptions." *Id*.

The Supreme Court explained that Senior District Judge Richard M. Smith erred in relying on "what he believed to be the current wife's positive impact on the twins' lives" to determine whether M.S. could demonstrate a presumption of paternity. *Id.* The Court also suggested that Wife's relationship with Mother and her positive role in the children's lives potentially could establish a competing presumption of parentage in Wife's favor:

Our reading of the record before us leads us to believe that E.L.'s counsel never truly pursued the possibility that this case may involve *competing presumptions* under K.S.A. 2019 Supp. 23-2208(c). . . . Yet the district judge relied in part on what he believed to be the current wife's positive impact on the twins' lives. We applaud the district judge's compassion on this point; no member of this court wishes anything less for these boys as a function of their birth mother's current relationship. But, unless E.L. is trying to establish a competing presumption in favor of her wife's maternity under K.S.A. 2019 Supp. 23-2208(c), her wife and her relationship to the twins is irrelevant to whether M.S. can establish her pre-existing maternity under K.S.A. 2019 Supp. 23-2208(a)(4) and (b).

Id. (Emphasis added) (citations omitted). The Court reiterated in the very last sentence of the Opinion's Conclusion, that the district court would be

"free to allow submission of additional evidence by the parties if he deems such evidence necessary to conduct the legal analysis we have outlined. This evidence may extend to proof of the existence or nonexistence of competing presumptions." Id. at 384 (emphasis added).

Following issuance of the Mandate on December 28, 2020, the parentage case was reassigned to Senior Judge Gunnar A. Sundby on February 1, 2021. (R.1, 40) Because Wife was never named as a party in M.S.'s paternity case, she wasn't notified electronically of filings or hearing dates after proceedings were reopened from the Mandate on February 1, 2021. (R.1, 40) Neither M.S. nor E.L. kept Wife informed or encouraged her to participate in the parentage action following remand. (R.1, 56-7).

When Wife discovered that a hearing had been scheduled for 10:00 a.m. on Monday, February 22, 2021, she immediately began calling Crawford County attorneys, hoping to obtain legal counsel to represent her as an interested party at the upcoming status conference, and in subsequent remand proceedings in the parentage case. Four days before the hearing, on Thursday February 18, 2021, Attorney Geoffrey Clark agreed to represent Wife in the proceedings following remand; on Monday February 22, Mr. Clark entered his appearance as Wife's attorney of record just before the hearing began at 10:00 a.m. (R.2, 3). Because Wife was not named as a party, the

court asked counsel for E.L. and M.S. whether either of them knew who Mr. Clark was representing. (R.2, 3) Attorney Sara Beezley, E.L.'s trial counsel, answered:

[E.L.] who is my client and the respondent in this case is married to [Wife] and [Wife] was actually present at the hearing and a witness at the hearing and so they got married[. . . .] Since that time last spring [E.L.] filed a petition for divorce from [Wife] and they've attempted to reconcile and do counseling and the whole thing.

But in [Wife]'s response she alleged that she's a parent to the two minor children. The acknowledgment, establishment, and recognition of her parentage is in the best interest of the children so she's claiming a role as the mother of these children and, I believe, that's why Mr. Clark has entered his appearance to represent [Wife]'s claim as to maternity.

(R.2,3-4).

Asked if either party objected to Mr. Clark's presence at the hearing, Attorney Valerie Moore, M.S.'s trial counsel responded: "[n]o objection to him appearing in today's status hearing. Obviously, I object to any argument that [Wife] would be considered a legal parent." (R.2, 4) Likewise, Ms. Beezley did not object to Mr. Clark's presence. (R.2, 4) The court then permitted Mr. Clark to enter into the Zoom hearing, stating: "I understand you represent [Wife]... who may have some interest in this case. At this point not deemed to be a party to the case but at least we're going to let you in for observation purposes at this point." (R.2, 5)

The court reminded the parties that "the Supreme Court left open the

ability to take further evidence concerning the presumptions and absent that then, of course, we have the ultimate decision as to the role of the parties as far as custody and visitation," and asked both counsel to weigh in on whether additional discovery was necessary and whether the case would need to be scheduled for trial or "do we do it on the record from the first trial or how do you see this going." (R.2, 5-6) Ms. Moore opined that because she was not involved with Mother or present at the time of the children's birth, Wife could not establish a competing presumption of parentage; therefore, M.S. should "just be declared a parent . . . based on the record alone and we should just proceed to the parenting schedule and reintegration." (R.2, 6-7) Ms. Beezley replied:

I think there is going to be an issue of competing presumptions. [Wife] has actually been in these boys' lives for longer than [M.S.] has been in their lives, especially during the period of time that ha[s] been more formative. . . . They call her mom. She's been around three plus years so I think that's going to be the question for this Court. . . where we have a *Ross* hearing on the issue of these competing presumptions.

(R.2, 8) Ms. Moore then stated, "I guess my question to Mr. Clark would be is [Wife] going to be asserting" a competing presumption of parentage. (R.12, 8) Although Mr. Clark was present only in an "observer" capacity, and informed the court that because he'd been hired only four days earlier, he hadn't had a chance to review the entire history of the district court case, the briefs and Opinion issued by this Court, or the briefs and Opinion issued by the Kansas

Supreme Court in the first appeal, he stated, "I don't think she's going to assert the presumption Judge. I think she's going to ask for stepparent visitation in this. . . . [*T]hat's my understanding*." (R.2, 9) (emphasis added).

On April 5, 2021, five months before granting Wife's Motion to Intervene on September 3, 2021, and without taking any new evidence regarding Wife's competing presumption of maternity; the district court filed its Order Establishing Parentage, in which it declared M.S. the legal parent of W.L. and G.L., awarded M.S. and E.L. joint legal custody of the children, and adopted a reintegration parenting time schedule for M.S. (R.1, 42-52) The 10-page Order is entirely devoid of mention of Wife's name—never mind any reference to parenting time, visitation, or the relationship between Wife and the children who know her as their mother.(R.1, 42-52)

On July 1, 2021, Wife filed her Motion to Intervene in the parentage case. (R.1, 53-55) M.S. objected, claiming among other things that Wife "does <u>not</u> have a presumption of parentage under K.S.A. 23-2208(a)(4)," and that M.S.'s parentage "had already been established by a Court Order." (R.1, 56-57) (emphasis in original). On July 21, 2021, Mother filed a separate Answer to Wife's Motion to Intervene, arguing that Wife's Motion should be denied "due to the fact that there is a case pending involving [Wife and Mother] and that is where any issues concerning stepparent visitation need to be

addressed." (R.1, 59) Also on July 21, 2021, the court appointed Maradeth Frederick as guardian ad litem for W.L. and G.L. in the divorce case. (R.10, 44-45) Less than a month later, Wife and Mother were divorced on August 19, 2021. (R.10, 46-55) In the Journal Entry and Decree of Divorce filed 8/19/2022, the Custody and Visitation section provided as follows: "[t]he parties have not reached an agreement on any of the issues regarding W.G.L. and G.A.L." (R.10, 48)

After Wife and Mother were officially divorced, on September 3, 2021, the court granted Wife's Motion to Intervene in the parentage case over the objections of Mother and former Partner.(R.1, 62-63) On December 3, 2021, Wife filed her own Petition for Determination of Parentage of G.L. and W.L. (R.1, 80-84) On December 14, Mother and former Partner filed a Joint Motion to Dismiss Wife's Petition for Determination of Parentage, arguing among other things that Wife failed to state a claim under the Kansas Parentage Act, because:

- (1) Wife "d[oes] <u>not</u> have a presumption of parentage under K.S.A. 23-2208(a)(3)(A)." (R.9, 41) (emphasis in original);
- (2) Wife "did not intervene or file a counterclaim of parentage" until December 2021. (R.16, 43);
 - (3) Because Wife filed a "stepparent adoption action," she "recogniz[ed]

that she was not a presumptive parent to these children." (R.9, 42) (emphasis in original);

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