No. 22-125,304-A

OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

In the Matter of W.L. and G.L.
By and Through Next Friend M.S. and M.S., Individually
Plaintiff-Appellee
And
E.L.

Respondent-Appellee
vs.

C.L. Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Crawford County, Kansas Honorable Gunnar A. Sundby, District Judge District Court Case No. 2017-DM-000476-P

> Valerie L. Moore, #19849 15700 College Boulevard, Suite 102 Lenexa, Kansas 66219 913.317.8999 (telephone) 913.327.8492 (facsimile) valerie@vintonmoorelaw.com Attorney for the Appellee

Oral Argument: 15 minutes

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

Argument and Authorities

Issue I: The Court properly exercised the doctrine of collateral estoppel and/or res judicata when denying C.L.'s parentage petition and granting E.L. and M.S's joint Motion to Dismiss.

Collateral Estoppel, a common law equitable doctrine, exists to prevent multiple litigations over the same topics and parties.

The essential element is that the party against whom estoppel is asserted had a full and fair opportunity to litigate, in the prior action, the issue he now seeks to relitigate. *Blonder-Tongue Laboratories, Inc. v. University of Illinois Foundation*, 402 U.S. 313, 333, 91 S.Ct. 1434, 1445, 28 L.Ed.2d 788 (1971).

C.L. had a high incentive and a "full and fair opportunity to litigate" her presumption of parentage in the action between M.S and E.L.. However, C.L. waited on the sidelines and declined to address the issue in the parentage action until <u>after</u> the Court had already issued final orders declaring M.S. a parent.

C.L. appeared with legal counsel at the hearings on February 22, 2021, February 25, 2021, March 3, 2021 – all prior to the issuance of an *Order of Parentage*. C.L. had knowledge of the hearings and, in fact, personally appeared at all hearings. She indicated that she would file a *Motion to Intervene* (Vol. 3, p. 3) so that her counsel would be able to view the pleadings in the matter and officially receive notice of pleadings as they were filed as well as hearing dates. C.L. was afforded the chance to argue that there were competing presumptions of parentage but did not allege parentage within the parentage action until almost three months after the *Order of Parentage* had been entered.

Collateral Estoppel, a common law equitable doctrine, may be invoked by the Court when

- (1) a prior judgment on the merits which determined the rights and liabilities of the parties on the issue based on ultimate facts as disclosed by the pleadings and judgment;
- (2) the parties must be the same or in privity; and
- (3) the issue litigated must have been determined and necessary to support the judgment. (See *Huelsman v. Kansas Dep't of Revenue*, 267 Kan. 456, 458, 980 P.2d 1022 (1999).

All three of those requirements are met in the instant action.

(1) a prior judgment on the merits which determined the rights and liabilities of the parties on the issue based on ultimate facts as disclosed by the pleadings and judgment;

The issue of C.L.'s parentage was discussed in Court hearings – hearings where C.L. was present. E.L.'s attorney stated:

But in [C.L.]'s response [to the divorce petition filed by E.L.] she alleged that she's a parent to the two minor children. The acknowledgement, establishment, and recognition of her parentage is in the best interest of the children so she's claiming a role as mother of these children, and, I believe that is why Mr. Clark [C.L.'s counsel] has entered his appearance to represent [C.L]'s claim as to maternity. (Vol. 2, p. 4)

Well, I think there is going to be an issue of competing presumptions (Vol. 2, p. 7)

When confronted with the information that E.L. was going to allege that C.L. was a parent, counsel for M.S. asked of C.L.'s counsel:

I guess my question to Mr. Clark would be is [C.L.] going to be asserting a presumption because I think if that's the case then we probably need to brief the Court on that matter because it's my position that the K.L. case is right on point and says specifically that's not to be considered because she wasn't involved when the children were born.

The fact that she's been involved since this case is no fault of my client, that's essentially because she [M.S.] was kicked out of the matter since the Court's ruling, so she wasn't able to have parenting time because the District Court ruled she wasn't a parent so that's not her fault, but during this time period, the additional time that C.L. has had with the child, but that would be my question to Mr. Clark is she even going to assert that presumption? (Vol. 2, pgs. 8-9)

C.L.'s counsel's response to that inquiry: "I don't think she's going to assert that presumption, Judge. I think she's going to ask for stepparent visitation in this." (Vol. 2, p. 9)

After a brief continuance, the Court held another hearing on February 25, 2021. At that hearing counsel for M.S. stated:

Your honor, Miss Beezley and I have had some discussion as well as Mr. Clark. It is my understanding that Miss Beezley just wants to quick review the transcript to make sure, but assume what I sent to her was correct, and she's able to verify it, I believe we can just go ahead and stipulate that my client [M.S.] is a parent and then what we talked about doing was giving them 45 days to come up with a reintegration plan that everyone agrees to. (Vol. 3, p. 4)

When discussing the next setting, the Court engaged in some dialogue with the parties:

Court: Mr. Clark, I've had you sitting there just so you could

observe. Obviously, you're not an interested party or you've not intervened in the case yet so I just thought I'd let you be involved with our discussions today. You're welcome to join us next Tuesday if you want.

Mr. Clark: I appreciate that, yes, sir. I have ready to file a motion

to intervene in this case, too, that I'll be filing today as

well.

Ms. Beezley: May I ask if that's a request for stepparent based on the

pending divorce.

Mr. Clark: Yes

Ms. Beezley: Okay (Vol. 3, p. 15)

At the hearing on March 2, 2021, E.L.'s counsel requested a hearing on "the ultimate issue of whether or not she consented to share her due process rights so we understand there's already the presumption there but the burden now fall on us, Your Honor. (Vol. 4, p. 4). The Court then set the matter for hearing in April.

No Motion to Intervene was filed by C.L. in advance of the March 2, 2021 hearing date.

The District Court issued a "prior judgment on the merits" of the case April 5, 2021. The Court made fifteen specific findings (Vol. 1, pgs. 41-52). The most pertinent of which are as follows:

- The Petitioner, M.S., is declared the legal parent of the minor children W.L. and G.L. pursuant to the Kansas Parentage Act, K.S.A. 23-2208(a)(4) "notoriously or in writing recognizing paternity of the child.
- The parties [M.S. and E.L.] shall be awarded joint legal custody of the minor children.
- Pursuant to the Child Support Worksheet . . . Petitioner [M.S.] shall pay the sum of \$1,069.00 per month as and for child support. Child support payments shall commence on April 1, 2021
- The parties agree that the amount of arrearage for all child support, daycare and non-covered medical expenses for the minor children from birth through March 31, 2021 is \$35,000.
- Petitioner [M.S.] shall make a lump sum payment to Respondent [E.L.] of \$20,000 within 60 days of the file-stamped date on this Journal Entry.

This "prior judgement on the merits" meets the first requirement for a collateral estoppel claim. The *Order of Parentage* was ented in April 2021 the appeal period ran without action (Vol. 1, pgs. 41-52). The <u>only</u> pleading alleging a presumption of parentage on file in the parentage action at the time the final order of judgement was entered was the *Petition for Determination of Parentage* filed by

M.S. on October 6, 2017 (Vol. 12, pgs. 12-15). As such, the *Order of Parentage* "determined the rights and liabilities of the parties on the issue based on the ultimate facts as disclosed by the pleadings and judgement." The Order resolved the issue of parentage. The Order resolved the issue of legal custody. The Order resolved the issue of child support including child support arrearage. The Order resolved the issue of the retroactive child support and the arrearage.

(2) the parties must be the same or in privity;

"When deciding if the parties are privies, a careful examination of the facts and circumstances of the case is required. Id. at 1319 (citing Goetz v. Bd. of Trustees, 203 Kan. 340, 454 P.2d 481 (1969))." The general rule in Kansas is that a judgment cannot be rendered against one who is not a party or who does not intervene. Id. (citing Winsor v. Powell, 209 Kan. 292, 497 P.2d 292, 297 (1972)). An exception exists when a person, who is not a party, controls the action. Id. The Tenth Circuit in Phelps noted that "control," as it applies to issue preclusion and as set forth in the Restatement of Judgments, is "the ability to exercise 'effective choice as to the legal theories and proofs to be advanced,' as well as 'control over the opportunity to obtain review." Id. (quoting Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 39 cmt. c (1982)). (*In re Thompson*, 240 B.R. 776 (B.A.P. 10th Cir. 1999))

The parties in this action have always been the same. At the time of the filing of the initial action, C.L. was E.L.'s fiancé. However, by the time the District Court conducted its trial on this action in April of 2018, C.L. and E.L. were married to one another. C.L. had the ability to "control" the action. She had the ability to file a *Motion to Intervene* before the final judgement was entered. She had the ability to assert a presumption of parentage in the paternity action – something she did

not do until well after the *Order of Parentage* was entered and some four years after M.S. filed her original *Petition for Determination of Parentage*.

(3) the issue litigated must have been determined and necessary to support the judgment.

This matter was properly litigated. There was a two-day trial in April of 2018. At no point prior to the entry of the *Order of Parentage* did C.L. assert a claim of parentage. Following the remand and the binding authority from the Supreme Court in both *Matter of M.F.* and *In re W.L.* (312 Kan. 382, 475 P.3d 338 (2020), M.S. clearly met her burden to establish that she was a parent to these children. The biological mother, E.L., agreed that M.S. met her burden to establish a presumption of parentage and made the determination that she did not wish to offer any evidence to rebut that presumption. When the presumption was not rebutted, the matter was concluded. At this point M.S. had been affirmatively, and correctly, declared the second parent of W.L. and G.L. The two parties that had been involved in the children's lives since their birth agreed that they were equal parents to W.L. and G.L.

The matter was properly litigated, and the findings are supported by the record.

In Hutchinson Nat'l Bank & Trust Co. v. English, (209 Kan. 127, 129, 130, 495 P.2d 1011 (1972)) it was held that the doctrine of collateral estoppel may be invoked only as to questions and issues shown to have been actually decided in

the prior action. *See also Weaver v. Frazee*, 219 Kan. 42, 51, 52, 547 P.2d 1005 (1976). The declaration of a parent was "actually decided" by the Court when M.S. was adjudged to be the parent of W.L. and G.L. and, therefore, C.L is collaterally estopped from relitigating the issue of parentage.

Similarly to collateral estoppel, the common-law rule of equity, res judicata, exists to prevent actions from being litigated twice. Four elements must be met before res judicata will apply: "(a) the same claim; (b) the same parties; (c) claims that were or could have been raised; and (d) a final judgment on the merits. *Cain v. Jacox*, 302 Kan. 431, at 434, 354 P.3d 1196 (2015).

As with collateral estoppel, C.L.'s claim of parentage is the (1) same claim as previously litigated, (2) it involves the same parties, (3) the claim could have been raised, and the (4) final judgement was based on the merits. As such, C.L. is collaterally estopped and barred by res judicata from relitigating the already-decided issue of parentage.

C.L. had a full and fair opportunity to litigate her parentage claim and was incentivized to do so in the action between M.S. and E.L.. Allowing C.L. to enter the picture at the 11th hour, after she consciously remained on the sideline while parentage was being established at the District Court level, would be against the interests of justice.

Issue II: The Court properly found that there exists no authority in Kansas for a finding that three parties can be equal parents of a child.

There is no caselaw in Kansas that stands for the premise that three individuals can be declared to be equal parents of a child.

C.L. appears to argue now on appeal that she has a competing presumption of parentage; however, in the actual pleadings filed and statements made in Court she did not allege a competing presumption of parentage. She instead proffered that the children could have three parents and she was one of those parents. Within her *Petition for Determination of Parentage* is the allegation "[t]hat it is in the child's best interest that M.S., E.L, and C.L. be granted joint legal custody of the minor child (Vol. 1, p. 80-84). The parties should have parenting time pursuant to the C.L.'s *Proposed Parenting Plan* filed herewith." (Vol. 1, pg. 82). Likewise, C.L.'s *Proposed Parenting Plan* states that "E.L., M.S., and C.L shall have joint legal custody" of the minor children. (Vol. 9, p. 32 *emphasis added*)

Unlike M.S.'s claim to parentage, C.L. had (and continues to have) another avenue available to her to ensure that her relationship with the children continues: stepparent visitation. K.S.A. 23-3301 provides a stepparent with the ability to be granted court-ordered visitation through the divorce action. M.S., as a former partner - but not spouse -of E.L., is not afforded this luxury. M.S.'s only course of action was to file a parentage action. When the District Court ruled M.S. was not

a parent, her parenting time was immediately suspended, and she was unable to continue her visits with the children missing out on **three years** of milestones with the children until such time as the appeal process was completed.

There is zero statutory authority for the declaration of three parties as parents to a child. One could imagine a scenario where <u>if</u> (1) <u>all three</u> parents are in agreement, (2) all three parents enter into a written co-parenting agreement, and (3) *all three* parents specifically waive any parental preference for the purpose of co-parenting as three equal parents, the Court *could* enforce such an agreement. A contract to parent is not "automatically rendered unenforceable as violating public policy merely because it contains the biological mother's agreement to share the custody of her children with another, so long as the intent and effect of the arrangement will promote the welfare and best interests of the children." (Frazier v. Goudschaal, 296 Kan. 730, 732, 295 P.3d 542, at 751 (2013)). However, in the instant case, there was no agreement signed by *all three* parents agreeing to equally share their parental responsibilities – nor was there any waiver of parental preference.

Instead E.L. and C.L. entered into a parenting agreement during the vacuum of time between the District Court's denial of M.S.'s *Petition for Determination of Parentage* (May 22, 2018) and the Supreme Court's ruling

(November 6, 2020): a time period where M.S. still had constitutionally protected rights to assert her parentage.

As the claim of three parents is frivolous and without any statutory or case law support in Kansas, and the District Court properly declined to consider such an argument.

Issue III: C.L.'s claim of notorious and open recognition of parentage is barred as it fails to meet the "time of birth" requirement.

First and foremost, the divorce action between C.L. and E.L. was never consolidated with the parentage action. As such, the pleadings and offerings with the divorce action should be barred from discussion within this appeal. M.S. was never a party to that divorce action and never had access to the pleadings and/or the discussions within that case.

The Court specifically made the finding at the August 19, 2021 hearing:

Mr. Clark: Your Honor, I was going to do the entry so its

consolidated into the -

The Court: No, no. The motion to intervene is granted.

Mr. Clark: Intervene is granted, very good Judge. Thank you very

much.

Ms. C.L.: Thank you Your Honor.

The Court: I accepted the argument of Miss Moore that would

open up too many things to have intervention –to consolidate so I just granted a motion to intervene –

Mr. Clark: I didn't have that written down.

The Court: -- over her objections. (Vol. 5, pgs. 25-26)

The *Journal Entry* from that August 2021 hearing state: "[o]ver the Petitioner and Respondent's objections C.L. is granted permission to intervene." (Vol. 20, p. 22). There was never a consolidation of the divorce action and parentage action and, as such, it is improper to include those documents within this appeal.

Notwithstanding the incorrect inclusion of the divorce action, C.L.'s claim in the instant parentage action, regardless of the claim she may or may not have made within the divorce action, fails.

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